# **STATE OF ALASKA**

## **DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION AND EARLY DEVELOPMENT**



CORRESPONDENCE STATUTES AND REGULATIONS

# Contents

CORRESPONDENCE PROGRAM STATUTES	2
Sec. 14.03.300. Correspondence study programs; individual learning plans	2
Sec. 14.03.310. Student allotments.	2
Related Statutes:	4
Sec. 14.07.020. Duties of the department	4
Sec. 14.07.050. Selection of textbooks.	4
Sec. 14.03.090. Partisan, sectarian, or denominational doctrines prohibited.	4
Sec. 14.17.430. State funding for correspondence study	4
CORRESPONDENCE PROGRAM REGULATIONS	5
4 AAC 09.040. Counting of correspondence students and part-time public school students	5
4 AAC 09.015. Student count; intensive services funding.	5
4 AAC 09.160. Fund balance.	5
4 AAC 33.405. Applicability	6
4 AAC 33.410. Purpose.	6
4 AAC 33.420. Department approval	6
4 AAC 33.421. Correspondence study program requirements	6
4 AAC 33.422. Fund accounts.	8
4 AAC 33.425. Applications. Repealed	9
4 AAC 33.426. Core course requirements	9
4 AAC 33.430. Enrollment of students	9
4 AAC 33.432. Enrollment of special education students	9
4 AAC 33.440. Reporting requirements: statewide correspondence and part-time students	10
4 AAC 33.460. Program review.	10
4 AAC 33.490. Definitions.	11

## CORRESPONDENCE PROGRAM STATUTES

Sec. 14.03.300. Correspondence study programs; individual learning plans.

- (a) A district or the department that provides a correspondence study program shall annually provide an individual learning plan for each student enrolled in the program developed in collaboration with the student, the parent or guardian of the student, a certificated teacher assigned to the student, and other individuals involved in the student's learning plan. An individual learning plan must
- (1) be developed with the assistance and approval of the certificated teacher assigned to the student by the district;
- (2) provide for a course of study for the appropriate grade level consistent with state and district standards;
- (3) provide for an ongoing assessment plan that includes statewide assessments required for public schools under AS 14.03.123(f);
- (4) include a provision for modification of the individual learning plan if the student is below proficient on a standardized assessment in a core subject;
- (5) provide for a signed agreement between the certificated teacher assigned to the student and at least one parent or the guardian of each student that verifies compliance with an individual learning plan;
- (6) provide for monitoring of each student's work and progress by the certificated teacher assigned to the student.
- (b) Notwithstanding another provision of law, the department may not impose additional requirements, other than the requirements specified under (a) of this section and under <u>AS 14.03.310</u>, on a student who is proficient or advanced on statewide assessments required under <u>AS 14.03.123(f)</u>.

### Sec. 14.03.310. Student allotments.

- (a) Except as provided in (e) of this section, the department or a district that provides a correspondence study program may provide an annual student allotment to a parent or guardian of a student enrolled in the correspondence study program for the purpose of meeting instructional expenses for the student enrolled in the program as provided in this section.
- (b) A parent or guardian may purchase nonsectarian services and materials from a public, private, or religious organization with a student allotment provided under (a) of this section if
- (1) the services and materials are required for the course of study in the individual learning plan developed for the student under AS 14.03.300;
  - (2) textbooks, services, and other curriculum materials and the course of study (A) are approved by the school district;
    - (B) are appropriate for the student;

- (C) are aligned to state standards; and
- (D) comply with <u>AS 14.03.090</u> and <u>AS 14.18.060</u>; and
- (3) the services and materials otherwise support a public purpose.
- (c) Except as provided in (d) of this section, an annual student allotment provided under this section is reserved and excluded from the unreserved portion of a district's year-end fund balance in the school operating fund under AS 14.17.505.
- (d) The department or a district that provides for an annual student allotment under (a) of this section shall
- (1) account for the balance of an unexpended annual student allotment during the period in which a student continues to be enrolled in the correspondence program for which the annual allotment was provided;
- (2) return the unexpended balance of a student allotment to the budget of the department or district for a student who is no longer enrolled in the correspondence program for which the allotment was provided;
  - (3) maintain a record of expenditures and allotments; and
  - (4) implement a routine monitoring of audits and expenditures.
- (e) A student allotment provided under (a) of this section may not be used to pay for services provided to a student by a family member. In this subsection, "family member" means the student's spouse, guardian, parent, stepparent, sibling, stepsibling, grandparent, step grandparent, child, uncle, or aunt.

## **Related Statutes:**

Sec. 14.07.020. Duties of the department.

#### (a) The department shall:

(9) exercise general supervision over elementary and secondary correspondence study programs offered by municipal school districts or regional educational attendance areas; the department may also offer and make available to any Alaskan through a centralized office a correspondence study program;

Sec. 14.07.050. Selection of textbooks.

Textbooks for use in the public schools of the state, including a district offered statewide correspondence study program, shall be selected by district boards for district schools. Nothing in this section precludes a correspondence study student, or the parent or guardian of a correspondence study student, from privately obtaining or using textbooks or curriculum material not provided by the school district.

Sec. 14.03.090. Partisan, sectarian, or denominational doctrines prohibited.

Partisan, sectarian, or denominational doctrines may not be advocated in a public school during the hours the school is in session. A teacher or school board violating this section may not receive public money.

Sec. 14.17.430. State funding for correspondence study.

Except as provided in AS 14.17.400(b), funding for the state centralized correspondence study program or a district correspondence program, including a district that offers a statewide correspondence study program, includes an allocation from the public education fund in an amount calculated by multiplying the ADM of the correspondence program by 90 percent.

## CORRESPONDENCE PROGRAM REGULATIONS

- 4 AAC 09.040. Counting of correspondence students and part-time public school students.
- (a) Repealed 6/2/95.
- (b) Repealed 12/13/87.
- (c) A secondary student enrolled in an approved district correspondence study program, or as a part-time student under <u>4 AAC 05.035</u>, shall be counted on a full-time equivalent basis as follows:
  - (1) a secondary student enrolled in one course in a semester equals 0.25 full-time equivalent;
  - (2) a secondary student enrolled in two courses in a semester equals 0.5 full-time equivalent;
  - (3) a secondary student enrolled in three courses in a semester equals 0.75 full-time equivalent;
- (4) a secondary student enrolled in four or more courses in a semester equals 1.00 full-time equivalent.
- (d) An elementary student enrolled in an approved district correspondence study program or as a parttime student under 4 AAC 05.035, shall be counted on a full-time equivalent basis as follows:
  - (1) an elementary student enrolled in one hour or less per day equals 0.25 full-time equivalent;
  - (2) an elementary student enrolled in two hours per day equals 0.5 full-time equivalent;
  - (3) an elementary student enrolled in three hours per day equals 0.75 full-time equivalent;
  - (4) an elementary student enrolled in four hours per day equals 1.0 full-time equivalent.
- (e) A district enrolling a part-time student shall determine if the student is enrolled with another district. If a part-time student is enrolled in two districts, a written agreement must be entered by the enrolling districts to ensure that the student is not counted as a total of more than one full-time equivalent for purposes of the public school funding program under <u>AS 14.17</u>. The enrolling districts shall notify the department of the terms of the agreement.
- (f) For the purposes of the public school funding program under AS 14.17, a student who generates one full-time equivalent in one district will not be counted as a part-time student with another district.
- 4 AAC 09.015. Student count; intensive services funding.
- (k) A correspondence program student living outside of this state is not eligible for school funding under AS 14.17.
- 4 AAC 09.160. Fund balance.
- (a) All money in the year-end fund balance of a district's school operating fund are subject to the 10 percent limit described in AS 14.17.505(a), except for money in the following six categories:
  - (1) encumbrances;
  - (2) inventory;

- (3) prepaid expenses, which may include fuel;
- (4) self-insurance;
- (5) federal impact aid received
- (A) in response to the application for impact aid submitted in the fiscal year that immediately preceded the current fiscal year; and
- (B) on or after March 1 of the current fiscal year that was awarded as a result of applications that were submitted before the application for impact aid for the current fiscal year;
- (6) unexpended annual student allotment money as provided under AS 14.03.320(c).
- (b) A district shall include in the report required under <u>4 AAC 06.121(5)(A)</u> a schedule that identifies the amount of money in the categories listed in (a) of this section.
- (c) For purposes of AS 14.17.505(a), "unreserved portion of the year-end fund balance of a school operating fund" means the portion of the fund balance remaining after the deduction of the items listed in (a) of this section.

### 4 AAC 33.405. Applicability.

<u>4 AAC 33.405</u> - <u>4 AAC 33.490</u> apply to correspondence study programs offered by a school district, including statewide correspondence study programs.

#### 4 AAC 33.410. Purpose.

The purpose of <u>4 AAC 33.405</u> - <u>4 AAC 33.490</u> is to (1) ensure that standards for curriculum, instruction, and student assessment for correspondence study programs are consistent with state standards; (2) ensure that the spending of public money by the programs is consistent with the public interest; and (3) establish reporting requirements for districts enrolling out-of-district students and part-time students.

### 4 AAC 33.420. Department approval.

Each school district offering a correspondence study program must provide the department with a statement of assurance that it will comply with <u>4 AAC 33.405</u> - <u>4 AAC 33.490</u>. The statement must declare whether the district intends to operate a statewide correspondence study program. Except as provided in <u>4 AAC 33.460</u>(c), the department will approve a school district to operate a correspondence program after the receipt of the statement required under this section. Once approved, a district is not required to submit a new statement each year, except that a district must submit a new statement before implementing a change in its program.

4 AAC 33.421. Correspondence study program requirements.

- (a) An individual learning plan required under AS 14.03.300 must provide for
- (1) monitoring of each student by the assigned certificated teacher; the monitoring must include at least monthly teacher-student or teacher-parent contact for a student who has obtained an achievement level that did not meet standards on the most recent administration of the statewide standards-based assessments under <u>4 AAC 06.710</u> <u>4 AAC 06.790</u> and quarterly reviews of a student's work or progress in the individual learning plan; the district must maintain a record of the contact required under this paragraph;

- (2) a grade, or other determination that the student has met the standards for a course, determined and assigned by the certificated teacher who is responsible for the course; the plan may provide for review and consideration of any recommendations submitted by the student or the student's parents;
- (3) a transcript that includes the source of any course taken by the student that was not offered or approved by the governing body of the district, or, in the case of a program that is a charter school, by the charter school, and for which no public money was provided; the transcript must note whether the student's mastery of the content of the course was approved by the district as meeting a requirement for graduation; and
- (4) a signed agreement between the assigned certificated teacher and at least one parent of each student that verifies that
  - (A) the student and parent have the same right to access the district appeal process as students and parents in the district's other programs; and
  - (B) the textbooks or other curriculum materials are appropriate for the student and the course of study is appropriate for the student as outlined in the individual learning plan.
- (b) In addition to meeting the requirements set out in  $\underline{AS\ 14.03.300}$  and this section, an individual learning plan for a student who has obtained an achievement level that did not meet standards on the most recent administration of the statewide standards-based assessments under  $\underline{4\ AAC\ 06.710}$   $\underline{4\ AAC\ 06.790}$  must identify strategies to move the student toward meeting standards in the related subject.
- (c) For each course offered for credit by the correspondence study program, the program shall assign a certificated teacher who has the primary responsibility for the course.
- (d) In accordance with AS 14.07.050, AS 14.08.111(9), and AS 14.14.090(7), a correspondence study program that is not a charter school shall use curriculum materials, including textbooks and other instructional aids, that have been approved by the district, are of the same quality as those materials that the district offers in the district's other programs, and are in compliance with AS 14.03.090 and AS 14.18.060. A program that is a charter school shall review and approve all curriculum materials for compliance with AS 14.03.090 and AS 14.18.060.
- (e) An employee of the district, including a certificated staff member, may not advocate religious, partisan, sectarian, or denominational doctrine as part of the employee's instructional or other duties. Nothing in this subsection prevents a parent from providing supplemental instruction to the parent's own child using materials of the parent's choice, if the materials were not purchased with money provided by the department or district.
- (f) The district shall require students to participate in the statewide student assessment program as required under <u>4 AAC 06.710</u> <u>4 AAC 06.790</u>. The correspondence study program shall
- (1) provide for an ongoing assessment plan that includes statewide assessments required for public schools; and
  - (2) follow the requirements of 4 AAC 06.765 for test security, by
  - (A) providing a secure testing facility to administer all testing requirements of the assessment program; or
  - (B) entering into agreements with districts and schools where the testing is administered that allow correspondence study program students to participate in testing at that location.

- (g) A district that offers a correspondence study program shall have an open enrollment policy for the program for the entire school year. However, a program that is a charter school may limit its enrollment in accordance with AS 14.03.265.
- (h) A correspondence study program may not pay for or provide money for services or materials that do not reasonably relate to the delivery of the students' instructional needs. Textbooks, curriculum materials, school supplies, tutoring services, athletic equipment, and technology expenses may be approved by the certificated teacher who has primary responsibility for the course. Funding for other materials or services may be approved only by the correspondence program director or the director's trained designee, and the valid instructional purpose served by the expenditure must be noted in the student's individual learning plan. Business managers or other administrative personnel who are not certificated under <u>4 AAC 12.305</u> or <u>4 AAC 12.345</u> may process receipts, reimbursement requests, or other paperwork related to expenditures or fund account activity, but may not fulfill the responsibilities of certificated teachers, program directors, or trained designees as set out in this subsection.
- (i) A correspondence study program, or a parent through a fund account under <u>4 AAC 33.422</u>, may contract with a private individual to provide tutoring to a student in a subject described in <u>4 AAC 04.140</u>, fine arts, music, or physical education, if
- (1) the instruction is part of the student's individual learning plan under AS 14.03.300 and (a) of this section; and
- (2) the tutor is not vested with the primary responsibility to plan, instruct, or evaluate the learning of the student in the subject.

#### 4 AAC 33.422. Fund accounts.

- (a) A correspondence study program may provide a fund account to the student's parents for the purpose of meeting instructional expenses for the student enrolled in the program. Expenditures from a fund account must be for the student's instructional needs as described in the individual learning plan under AS 14.03.300 and 4 AAC 33.421(a).
- (b) Textbooks, equipment, and other curriculum materials purchased with state money, including money provided to the parent through a fund account, are property of the district. Materials that are not consumables must be returned to the district when the student leaves the program for any reason.
- (c) A fund account may not be used to pay for any item or service excluded under 4 AAC 33.421(h).
- (d) The fund account may not be used by the district or the parent to supplant district funds or obligations for IEP services.
- (e) If a correspondence study program provides for a fund account, the governing body of the district, or, in the case of a program that is a charter school, the charter school, shall establish written standards, consistent with <u>4 AAC 33.405</u> <u>4 AAC 33.490</u>, on what constitutes appropriate and allowable expenditures of a fund account.
- (f) The district or charter school shall approve all expenditures from the fund account under the written standards established by the district under (e) of this section. The district's or charter school's approval process may include pre-authorization for items identified by the district in its written standards.
- (g) The district or charter school may not permit the transfer of money between student fund accounts except in the case of families with multiple students enrolled.

4 AAC 33.425. Applications. Repealed.

4 AAC 33.426. Core course requirements.

- (a) A student enrolled in a correspondence study program, whether full-time or part-time, must take at least 50 percent of the student's coursework that the student takes through the correspondence study program in core courses. A student enrolled in more than two correspondence classes must take core courses in at least two different subject areas.
- (b) A district may waive the requirement of (a) of this section if the district determines that the student is a senior and needs less than 50 percent of the student's curriculum in core courses to qualify for high school graduation from the correspondence study program in which the student is enrolled. A district shall waive the requirement of (a) of this section if the student obtained achievement levels that met standards in English language arts and mathematics as set out in <u>4 AAC 06.739(b)</u> during the previous academic year.
- (c) Core course work performed outside the student's correspondence study program may not count towards the requirements set out under (a) of this section.
- (d) In this section, "core course" means
  - (1) a course of study in
    - (A) English;
    - (B) mathematics;
    - (C) social studies;
    - (D) science;
    - (E) technology;
    - (F) world languages; or
  - (2) a course required by a student's IEP if the student is receiving special education and related services under <u>4 AAC 52</u>.

#### 4 AAC 33.430. Enrollment of students.

A student may not be counted as more than 1.0 full-time equivalent for state funding purposes under  $\underline{4}$  AAC 09.040. If a student is enrolled in both the student's district of residence and in a statewide correspondence study program of another district, the district of residence shall count the student first under the provisions of  $\underline{4}$  AAC 09.040(c), based solely upon the student's enrollment in classes of the district of residence. Any remaining student count may be allocated to a district that has enrolled the student in classes in the district's statewide correspondence study program, on a first-come, first-served basis. A student may not be counted as being enrolled in a course if the student is concurrently enrolled in a substantially similar course in a different educational institution, including a private school.

### 4 AAC 33.432. Enrollment of special education students.

(a) A district that offers a correspondence study program shall enroll a special education student on the same basis as any other student. The district must ensure that the student's program meets all requirements of AS 14.30 and 4 AAC 52.100 - 4 AAC 52.790, including child find, provision of special education and related services, procedural safeguards, and the development of the student's IEP. The district must meet all requirements of applicable state testing and assessment under 4 AAC 06.710 - 4

AAC 06.790 for the student. If a special education student is enrolled in more than one district, the district with the responsibility under this section is

- (1) the district that receives the larger share of the student's full-time equivalent count for state funding purposes under  $\underline{4 \text{ AAC } 09.040(c)}$  and  $\underline{4 \text{ AAC } 33.430}$ ;
- (2) if the student's full-time equivalent count for each district in which the student is enrolled is equal, the student's district of residence; or
- (3) if the student is enrolled in more than one statewide correspondence study program and the student's full-time equivalent count for each program is equal, the first statewide program that enrolled the student.
- (b) A district may enter into individualized cooperative agreements with another school district to meet the requirements of this section.
- 4 AAC 33.440. Reporting requirements: statewide correspondence and part-time students.

Each district that operates a statewide correspondence study program shall submit a report to the department, along with the student count period information required by <u>AS 14.17.600</u>. The report must be in an electronic or other format, as required by the department, and must contain the

- (1) number of out-of-district students enrolled in the district's statewide correspondence study program, by district of residence;
- (2) name, address, telephone number, and student identification number of each student enrolled part-time in the district's statewide correspondence study program, and the percentage of full-time equivalency assigned to that student.
- 4 AAC 33.460. Program review.
- (a) The department may monitor correspondence study programs to ensure compliance with the requirements of 4 AAC 33.405 4 AAC 33.490.
- (b) Upon request by the department, the district shall provide
- (1) a list of all students enrolled in the statewide correspondence program, including each student's name, age, student identification issued by the department, entry date, exit date, whether the student has a disability category, and whether the student receives intensive services or related services;
- (2) a list of all administrators, teachers, teacher aides, and related services personnel who provide special education and related services in the district, including, for certificated staff members, the teacher certificate numbers; and
- (3) any other information required by the department to monitor programs as described in (a) of this section.
- (c) The department may place a district on a plan of correction for any violation of <u>4 AAC 33.405</u> <u>4 AAC 33.490</u>. A district may request reconsideration of the plan by the commissioner. If a district is found to have knowingly violated a provision of <u>4 AAC 33.405</u> <u>4 AAC 33.490</u>, the department may withdraw approval for the district to operate a correspondence study program. If the department finds that public money was spent in violation of the requirements of <u>4 AAC 33.405</u> <u>4 AAC 33.490</u>, the department will require repayment of the misspent money, without regard to fault or intent. A district may appeal under

- <u>4 AAC 40</u> a decision by the department to withdraw approval to operate a correspondence program or require repayment of money.
- (d) Repealed 9/19/2008.
- 4 AAC 33.490. Definitions.

#### In 4 AAC 33.410 - 4 AAC 33.490,

- (1) repealed 8/6/2004;
- (2) "board" means the state Board of Education and Early Development;
- (3) "cooperative agreement" means a contract that is entered into by an enrolling district and a district of residence in conformance with <u>4 AAC 33.432</u>;
  - (4) "department" means the Department of Education and Early Development;
  - (5) "district" means a city or borough school district or a regional educational attendance area;
  - (6) "district of residence" means the school district in which a student is a resident;
  - (7) repealed 9/19/2008;
- (8) "IEP" means in individualized education program established under the provisions of <u>4 AAC</u> 52.140 that meets the requirements of AS 14.30.186 and 14.30.278;
- (9) "out-of-district student" means a student who seeks to enroll in a district in which the student does not reside;
- (10) "special education student" means a student who is entitled to special education and related services under AS 14.30.180 14.30.350 and 4 AAC 52.010 4 AAC 52.990;
- (11) "statewide correspondence study program" means any educational program, including a charter school program, that enrolls out-of-district students and provides
  - (A) for each secondary course, less than three hours per week of scheduled face-to-face interaction, in the same location, between a teacher certificated under AS 14.20.020 and the class;
  - (B) for elementary students, less than 15 hours per week of scheduled face-to-face interaction, in the same location, between a teacher certificated under <u>AS 14.20.020</u> and each full-time equivalent elementary student;
- (12) "curriculum" means a written plan that sets out the scope and arrangement of the educational program planned for a district; "curriculum" includes the scope and sequence of objectives and activities for a given course;
- (13) "curriculum material" includes textbooks, software, multi-media materials, and other materials for which the primary purpose is for use in instructional activity; "curriculum material" does not include literary works;
- (14) "home school" means an educational program provided in the child's home by a parent or legal guardian under AS 14.30.010(b)(12);
- (15) "parent" means a biological, adoptive, or foster parent, or an adult who acts as guardian of a child and makes decisions related to the child's safety, education, and welfare;
- (16) "teacher" means a person employed by a district in a teaching, counseling, or administrative position and has the appropriate certificate issued by the department;

- (17) "correspondence study program" has the meaning given in 4 AAC 09.990(a).
- (18) "world languages" means non-English languages including Alaska Native, American Indian, and American Sign Language.